IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HARRY BUTLER, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. 95,158

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

____:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KEVIN BRIGGS Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0520357

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the volumes of the record on appeal will be referred to by a [V]. The appropriate page number will follow this symbol. For example, [V2:33] refers to page 33 of volume two.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, the grand jury returned an indictment charging Appellant, Harry Lee Butler, with one count of the first degree murder of Leslie Fleming. [V1:6-7] This offense allegedly occurred on March 13 and 14, 1997. [V1:6] The state filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. [V1:11] On June 23, 1998, Mr. Butler appeared for a jury trial, the Honorable Frank Quesada, circuit judge, presiding. [V11:1] The jury returned a verdict of guilty of the charged offense. [V4:745] The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of eleven to one. [V4:749]

Defense counsel filed two motions for a new trial. [V4:759-60,762] After conducting a hearing on these motions on August 7, 1998, the trial court denied the motions. [V5:851;V10:1700] November 2, 1998, the court conducted a hearing under Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (1993), during which the defense presented additional mitigating testimony. [V10:1730] The defense and the state submitted written sentencing memorandums. [V5:775-781,783-792] On January 11, 1999, the trial judge entered an order imposing the death penalty. [V5:829-836; Appendix 1] The court found only one aggravating circumstance, the heinous, atrocious, or cruel nature of the murder. [V5:831] In mitigation, the court found no statutory mitigators and four non-statutory mitigators. [V5:833-35] The court's findings of mitigating circumstances are as follows [V5: 833-35]:

- 1. He was reared without his natural The defendant's father testified that mother. the defendant was eight years old when his mother was murdered, and the father charged with the murder, but was acquitted. The defendant was sent to live with his grandmother and cousins in Georgia. defendant offered the testimony psychiatrist, who said the defendant's family history showed he was caught in a cycle of domestic violence. The Court finds that no evidence was presented that defendant's family circumstances included violence. His father testified that he was accused of defendant's mother's murder, but was acquitted. The Court does find that the defendant was reared without his mother, and gives circumstance some weight. . . .
- 5. The defendant is a loving and good son. Again, the defendant cites the testimony of his father. The Court finds that this circumstance may reasonably exist, and gives it some weight. . .
- 6. The defendant is well-thought of by neighbors and co-workers. The defendant cites the testimony of one friend and the concrete supervisor who hired him from time to time. While this was not an outpouring of support, the Court finds that this circumstance exists, and gives it slight weight. . .
- 7. The defendant has a long-term substance abuse problem. The defendant cites his own testimony that he had a long-term substance abuse problem. The Court finds that this circumstance may exist, but give it slight weight.

Mr. Butler filed a timely notice of appeal on February 9, 1999. [V5:837]

Undersigned counsel, on December 20, 1999, filed in the trial court a motion to correct sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800. Counsel also filed with this court a notice of the filing of this motion. Following this court's decision in

Amendment to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(3), 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 3.010(h), 9.140, and 9.600, case number 95,707 (Fla. January 13, 2000), in which this court held that the newly amended 3.800 rule does not apply to capital cases, undersigned counsel filed a motion to withdraw the previously filed 3.800 motion. (Appendix 2)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The Victim's Death

Leslie Fleming lived in an apartment on Alpine Road in Clearwater. [V11:153] Leslie was also known as "Bay." Shawna Fleming, Leslie's sister, lived nearby. [V12:169,172] [V12:191-92] Shawna last spoke with Leslie by telephone at about 8:00 p.m. on Thursday, March 13, 1997. [V12:198] The next morning at 5:20, Shawna called Leslie as she did every morning. [V12:199-200] Leslie did not answer the phone. [V12:200] Steven Shine, Shawna's boyfriend, went to Leslie's apartment and tried unsuccessfully to contact her. [V12:200] Later at 7:15 a.m., Shawna also went to Leslie's apartment. [V12:200] After Shawna repeatedly knocked on the door, LaShara Butler opened the door. [V12:201] LaShara, who is the daughter of Mr. Butler and Leslie, was six years old. [V12:201] Shawna went inside and saw Leslie's body on the floor. [V12:201, 205] Shawna called the police. [V12:203]

LaShara Butler usually did not sleep in the same bedroom with her mother, but the child was asleep with her mother on the night of the murder. [V12:228-30] LaShara testified she knew the date was March 14th because her grandmother later told her this date. [V12:246,247,257-58] According to LaShara, Mr. Butler entered her mother's bedroom and moved her to her own bedroom. [V12:230,245] LaShara claimed she saw Mr. Butler's face as he carried her. [V12:230,245] Later LaShara was awakened by her mother's scream. [V12:

230,249] LaShara was not sure when she woke up. [V12:255] LaShara testified she did see numbers on a cable television box when she woke up. [V12:257] However, John Dosher, an operations manager for a cable company, removed the cable box from the apartment on March 13th at about noon. [V15:801-02] The box was removed for non-payment. [V15:803] LaShara also alleged she heard her mother say "stop." [V12:231,242] But LaShara, in a deposition, related that her mother said nothing. [V12:243]

Getting up to use the bathroom, LaShara allegedly saw her mother and father in the living room. [V12:231-32,249] LaShara was on the inside of her room by her door when she made this observation. [V12:249,251-52] Her room was dark because LaShara did not turn on a light. [V12:251] She claimed that a light was on in the living room. [V12:259] LaShara testified, "I saw my mom's leg--one of my mom's down and my dad's leg on my mom's legs and one of her legs went up right high and then came down fast." [V12:232] In response to a question of how she knew it was her father's leg, LaShara stated, "Because it was big and it had a lot of hair on it because his leg has a lot of hair on it." [V12:233,254-55] LaShara did not hear Mr. Butler say anything, and she did not see his face or the back of his head. [V12:233,234,254] LaShara heard her mother screaming as if she were being hurt. [V12:234] Subsequently, LaShara heard the screen door close and steps on the outside of the apartment. [V12:235]

LaShara returned to bed. [V12:235] She woke up later when Shawna, her aunt, knocked on the door. [V12:235] Shawna asked

LaShara the identity of the body in the living room. [V12:235] LaShara said she did not know. [V12:235] LaShara picked up a pillow and a bag and saw her mother's face. [V12:235]

LaShara did not relate to Officer Terence Kelly, the first police officer on the scene, that her father was involved in her mother's death even though Officer Kelly asked her what she had heard and seen. [V12:238-39] In addition, LaShara did not tell Shawna anything about what had occurred. [V12:204] Officer Scott Ballard arrived at the apartment at 7:33 a.m. [V12:261] He transported LaShara to the police station. [V12:262] While inside the police car, LaShara told Officer Ballard, "My daddy hurt mommy." [V12:263] LaShara's statement was unprompted. [V12:263] Detective Wilton Lee later conducted an interview with LaShara on March 14th at about 10:30 a.m. [V14:696] Detective Lee videotaped the interview. [V14:697] This videotape was played to the jury. [V14:709]¹

LaShara admitted she wanted to make her grandmother, Vivian Harris, happy. [V12:241-42] Harris had told LaShara repeatedly that Mr. Butler was the murderer. [V12:241] Harris told LaShara that she did not want LaShara to like Mr. Butler. [V12:258] LaShara got angry about her mother's death just as her grandmother got angry. [V12:241] Harris testified she did not have any contact with LaShara between the time Leslie's body was discovered to the time LaShara was taken to the police department. [V13:547]

¹ A transcript of the videotape is included in the appellate record. [V6:974]

II. The Investigation

A. The Crime Scene

Officer Terence Kelly responded to the scene at about 7:33 a.m. on March 14th. [V12:211-13] Officer Kelly noted that blood was splattered about the living room floor near the body. [V12:213, 219] A plastic bag and a pillow were near the deceased's head. [V12:212,216] The pillow was within a foot of her head. [V12:280] Officer Kelly testified he believed the plastic bag was on the body when he arrived at the crime scene. [V12:217] He did not move the bag. [V12:217] Both the bag and the pillow had blood stains on them. [V12:280]

An investigation of the crime scene ensued. [V12:268-69] Photographs were taken of the outside and inside of the apartment. [V12:272-76,279,282,287-88]² A vacuum sweep of the apartment was conducted to gather fiber evidence. [V12:276-78,314] However, testing on the results of this vacuum sweep never resulted in any reports. [V15:860-62] The apartment was mostly undisturbed. [V12:280,289] Photographs were taken of Leslie's body, including her face. [V12:287,290] Blood stains near the body were consistent with Leslie being in a supine position at the time of the attack. [V12:292] Photographs of these blood stains were taken. [V12:293, 296-99,318] Law enforcement also took samples from the blood stains. [V12:295,318-19] Fingerprint evidence was obtained. [V12-

² Copies of the photographs introduced into evidence by the state are found in volume five pages 865 to 913 and volume six pages 914 to 967.

300,301] The age of these latent fingerprints could not be determined. [V12:300]

Carol Davis, a latent fingerprint examiner, compared 113 fingerprints as part of the investigation. [V15:845] Of these prints, 84 were of no comparable value. [V15:845] Twenty-one of the prints could not be identified. [V15:845-46] The remaining eight prints belonged to Mr. Butler, Leslie, and a child Takisha Butler. [V15:846]

One of the investigators, Donald Barker testified that a person could see from the children's bedroom to the area where the body was found. [V12:306] Barker testified that this view was "partial." [V12:308] Photographs taken from the doorway and from the top bunk of the bunk bed revealed only the deceased's head, not her feet. [V12:323-24] Photographs showing the relationship of the bedroom to the area where the body was found were introduced into evidence. [V12:321-25]

Woodburn Miller performed luminol testing on the victim's apartment in order to detect any blood. [V15:851-52] Miller observed several shoe prints caused by someone tracking blood. [V15:852-53] Miller took photographs of the prints, which were given to Detective Lee. [V15:853,859] These prints were not compared to shoes that allegedly belonged to Mr. Butler and that were stained with the victim's blood. [V15:860] Miller was aware that testing could be done to make footprint comparisons. [V15:855-56] According to Miller, the discovered prints were inadequate to enable a comparison. [V15:856] Mr. Butler was arrested prior to

law enforcement's obtaining any hair, fiber, or footprints evidence. [V15:863]

B. The Autopsy

Dr. Marie Hansen, a pathologist, performed an autopsy on the victim. [V14:577] Leslie was 5'3" tall and weighed 105 lbs. [V12: 205] Dr. Hansen explained the difference between stab wounds and incised wounds. [V14:583-84] Stab wounds are deeper than they are wide, the opposite is true of incised wounds. [V14:583-84] Hansen testified Leslie suffered 25 stab wounds, nine incised wounds, and eleven wounds that could not be labeled. [V14:586] Dr. Hansen classified most of the wounds as "superficial." [V14:628] Of these eleven wounds, Hansen said some were of a defensive nature. [V14:586] Photographs of the injuries were introduced into evidence. [V14:592] The deceased had some swelling on her face, and her jaw was fractured. [V14:593-94] Hansen testified that these injuries were consistent with Leslie being struck with blunt force. [V14:594-95]

Multiple stab wounds were discovered on the victim's neck. [V14:596-600,602] Dr. Hansen testified that these wounds were consistent with being inflicted by a single object. [V14:600-01] Dr. Hansen said this object could have been a blade or other sharp, thin instrument. [V14:601] Two of the wounds would have been fatal, causing Leslie to bleed to death or causing her lungs to collapse. [V14:607-08] Most of the wounds to the neck were on the right side. [V14:621] Dr. Hansen testified that these wounds were

more consistent with being inflicted by an individual who is lefthanded, providing that the victim was on her back at the time the wounds were inflicted. [V14:621]

On her torso and lower abdominal area, Leslie suffered multiple small nicks from a sharp instrument. [V14:603,604] Dr. Hansen testified that these wounds were consistent with being "torturous wounds." [V14:625] Defensive wounds were present on her left arm and both hands. [V14:605,606,620] Two of the wounds appeared to be caused by Leslie grabbing something. [V14:606,620] On the neck the deceased also exhibited very small hemorrhages that were consistent with strangulation. [V14:608-09] However, these hemorrhages could be present even though the person did not ultimately die. [V14:611] The person would, however, become unconscious. [V14:619] Dr. Hansen testified that the plastic bag and the pillow found at Leslie's residence were consistent with causing asphyxiation. [V14:611]

Dr. Hansen determined that the cause of death was multiple stab wounds to the head, neck, and torso; blunt trauma to the head; and suffocation. [V14:613-14,619] In Dr. Hansen's opinion, the attack lasted at least ten minutes. [V14:616,618] Leslie could have been unconscious during some of this time. [V14:618] The blow to her jaw could have rendered her unconscious as well as the asphyxiation. [V14:618,619] All of the stab wounds except for the defensive ones could have occurred while Leslie was unconscious. [V14:620-21] Dr. Hansen testified the latest Leslie could have

been alive was 4:00 a.m. according to testing for vitreous potassium. [V14:615,624]

At the time of the autopsy, a hair was found in the victim's mouth. [V14:715] Detective Lee, the lead detective on the case, did not send this hair for analysis. [V14:715-16]

C. Evidence Located Near the Victim's Residence

Detective Green testified that Martisha Kelly told him on March 16th that she had knowledge of where the murder weapon was located. [V12:329-30,334;V16:1094] Kelly told Detective Green that the weapon was in one of the dumpsters near a food store. [V12:332: V16:1095] Kelly was not specific as to which dumpster. [V16:1098] Detective Green did not ask Kelly how she knew about the weapon, and Kelly did not tell the detective that Dennis Tennell told her about the weapon. [V16:1096] Kelly directed Detective Green to the food store. [V12:331-32]

A search of one of the dumpsters at the food store revealed a pair of blue shorts, a white t-shirt, a pair of underwear, a towel, and a pair of tennis shoes. [V12:339,341-47] The shoes had no laces. [V12:348] The items were located inside the dumpster, about halfway down. [V12:349] They were not packaged together. [V12:353] Photographs of the dumpster and the nearby area were introduced into evidence. [V12:349-53] Mr. Butler lived less than a mile from the food store. [V12:338] The area where the store was located was a highly commercial area trafficked by many people. [V12:354]

Officer Shawn Meeks testified that the tennis shoes were consistent with the ones that Mr. Butler wore prior to being arrested on March 11th for a domestic violence incident. [V13:528-30] Officer Meeks described these shoes as being blue, black, and white, with no laces in them. [V13:529] The shoes were loosefitting. [V13:529] Officer Meeks could not, however, testify that the shoes found in the dumpster were the same shoes that Mr. Butler had on previously. [V13:530] He testified he was aware of the differences between the Nike logo (a swoosh) and the Converse logo (a star). In a deposition Officer Meeks said the shoes were made by Nike, not Converse. [V13:531-32]. The shoes, however, were in fact made by Converse. [V13:532]

Shawna testified that Mr. Butler usually wore sneakers with no laces. [V13:534] A home videotape made in December of 1996 showed shoes and shorts worn by Mr. Butler. [V13:535-38] Mr. Butler's shoes had no laces in them. [V13:540] This videotape was published to the jury. [V13:538-41] Still photographs of frames within the videotape were also introduced into evidence. [V13:552-53;V14:565] Vivian Harris, Leslie's mother, testified Mr. Butler wore his tennis shoes with no shoelaces. [V13:544,545] Measurements of Mr. Butler's feet were taken. [V14:570-74] Photographs of the measurements were introduced into evidence. [V14:572] Mr. Butler's foot was wider than average. [V14:572] His foot size was size eleven. [V14:574]

James Wood testified Mr. Butler did not wear shoes like the ones found. [V14:636-37] Wood testified Mr. Butler usually wore

shoes with laces in them even though they would not be laced up. [V14:639] Mr. Butler had worked with Wood for eight years. [V14:637] Wood denied that the photographs of the shoes were ones that were shown to him by law enforcement. [V14:638-39] However, Detective Lee testified Wood identified the shoes as belonging to Mr. Butler. [V14:685-86] Detective Lee testified Wood told him that Mr. Butler's shoes were unlaced or had no laces. [V14:687]

D. Testimony Concerning DNA

Jeannie Eberhardt, a forensic scientist specializing in DNA serology, testified concerning DNA testing that was conducted on evidence in the case. [V13:375] The testing employed was PCR testing. [V13:380,385,481] Eberhardt testified that PCR testing was normally conducted when the test material had been degraded or the sample size was small. [V13:386-87,481] Eberhardt performed DNA testing on blood samples taken from Leslie and from Mr. Butler. [V13:394-95] A DNA profile was obtained for each of the samples. [V13:437-38]

Eberhardt conducted an examination of the tee-shirt found in the dumpster. [V13:443] She found the presence of blood on the shirt, but she was unable to confirm a DNA profile of the blood. [V13:444] The same result was reached with blood stains found on the denim shorts, towel, and boxer shorts. [V13:446-47,448-49] The blood was either of an inadequate amount or degraded. [V13:449,483] The dyes in the denim shorts inhibit DNA testing. [V13:508]

However, Eberhardt was able to develop a DNA profile for the blood found on one of the sneakers. [V13:449-53,482] The sneakers were size twelve Converse tennis shoes. [V13:449] Blood on the right sneaker was insufficient to develop a profile. [V13:453-54, 483] PCR testing on blood found on the outside of the left sneaker revealed a DNA profile. Eberhardt testified that this DNA profile was consistent with the DNA profile of Leslie. [V13:455,485,486] Testing on blood samples from the inside of the sneaker indicated an inconclusive blood profile. [V13:486-87] According to Eberhardt, the profile of the blood on the sneaker was inconsistent with Mr. Butler's DNA profile. [V13:456]

Eberhardt also conducted testing on other blood samples. Blood samples taken from the wall of Leslie's apartment and items within the apartment indicated a DNA profile consistent with Leslie's DNA. [V13:457-65] Blood samples taken from her fingernail clippings were also consistent with her own blood. [V13:465-66] The pillow and plastic bag found next to Leslie's head each had blood on them that matched her DNA profile. [V13:468-72] Mr. Butler's blood was not found on any of the samples. [V13:472] All of the blood samples for which Eberhardt was able to obtain a DNA profile matched Leslie's blood. [V13:473]

Testing on samples obtained from the door to the motel where Mr. Butler was staying indicated the presence of blood. [V13:473-74,490,521-22] This blood revealed two DNA profiles neither of which were consistent with Leslie's or Mr. Butler's DNA profiles. [V13:475-76,490] Law enforcement's efforts to find other blood

samples inside the motel room were unsuccessful. [V13:524; V15: 835,838] Eberhardt testified that the DNA profiles that were obtained could be expected to occur in one in 3,000 African Americans, 1 in 112,800 Caucasian individuals, and 1 in 538,000 Southeastern Hispanic individuals. [V13:479,498]

Eberhardt admitted that cross-contamination of samples during DNA testifying was a concern. [V13:494] Despite a recommendation from the National Research Council that a second test be performed at another laboratory, this recommendation was not followed. [V13:496-97]

III. Testimony of Witnesses Associated with Mr. Butler

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