## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HARRY BUTLER,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC95158

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

A. From where I was standing I could see my wife. I could see her face and glasses. In fact, I engaged in conversation with her. From that distance, I could hear her and she could hear me."

(TR. 693-694)

Even defense witness investigator Ley admitted there was no problem seeing the bushes from the dumpster (Vol. XV, TR. 781-782).<sup>7</sup> While Young may be the only adult placing appellant at the scene of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>While defense witness Ley described the distance as 147 feet from the furthest part of the dumpster to the furthest part of the bushes (Vol. XV, TR. 774), state witness Detective Lee approximated the distance at about eighty feet (Vol. XIV, TR. 693-695) but it could be farther (TR. 713).

victim's residence, that does not detract from Lashara Butler's testimony that appellant "hurt mommy". And appellant in his testimony admitted that the white and blue tennis shoes in evidence were his shoes (Vol. XVI, TR. 1058-1059). He reiterated on cross-examination that the sneakers with the blood matching Leslie Fleming's DNA were <u>his</u> (TR. 1077).

Thus, even if the Court were to hold that the prosecutor should have had the Young probation violation report and should have furnished it to the defense, there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome for the failure to do so, when considering the entire evidence in the case.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>For the convenience of the Court, appellee is attaching as Exhibit II to this brief a copy of the May 15 Lola Young probation violation report which apparently was not included in the record on appeal. Undersigned counsel has spoken to counsel for appellant, Kevin Briggs who stated he has no objection to this.

#### ISSUE IV

## WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRONEOUSLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY THAT THE ONLY PROPOSED AGGRAVATOR HAD BEEN ESTABLISHED BY THE EVIDENCE.

## (A) The instant claim is procedurally barred:

The record reflects that no contemporaneous or even noncontemporaneous objection was presented on this issue in the lower court. After the jury returned a guilty verdict, the court and counsel discussed penalty phase jury instructions. The court indicated that it would have the jury instruction conversation on the following day (TR. 1235). On June 27, 1998, the defense announced it would have no objection to the court's preliminary instruction to the jury prior to opening statements and evidence (TR. 1239).<sup>9</sup>

The defense then announced a twofold objection, that the HAC circumstance failed to adequately inform the jury what they must find (that it was vague on its face) and secondly that the factor did not apply on the evidence (TR. 1241-1243). The prosecutor announced no objection to the defense requested instruction relating to the inapplicability if the victim were unconscious or dead (TR. 1244) and such an amended instruction was given to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>In the preliminary instruction the court informed the jury in pertinent part that the evidence "is presented in order that you might determine first <u>whether</u> sufficient <u>aggravating circumstances</u> <u>exist</u> that would justify the imposition of a death penalty" and "second whether there are mitigating circumstances sufficient to outweigh the <u>aggravating circumstances</u>, <u>if any</u>." (emphasis supplied) (Vol. XVII, TR. 1247).

jury (TR. 1315).

After the presentation of penalty phase evidence, the court and counsel again discussed instructions and this colloquy ensued in discussing the location of the amended HAC instruction:

THE COURT: I will put it in with a separate paragraph and I will modify that instruction that the aggravating circumstance period. Aggravating circumstance that can be considered is limited to the following that are the following. I think I'm going to leave that is the following established by the evidence or that is established by the evidence.

MR. SCHWARTZBERG: <u>If you are going to</u> <u>make it singular</u>.

THE COURT: <u>So I will put a comma in there</u> by the following that is established by the <u>evidence</u> the crime for which -- and was conscious. It reads standing alone with an -insert special instruction at that point.

MR. SCHWARTZBERG: Pardon me, Judge?

THE COURT: I inserted it right after that just before if you find the aggravating circumstances.

MR. SCHWARTZBERG: <u>That's fine</u>, Judge.

(emphasis supplied) (Vol. XVII, TR. 1281-1282)

The defense requested and received a copy of the instructions prior to the jury being instructed (Vol. XVII, R. 1292). Following arguments and reading of instructions to the jury, the defense declined the court's invitation to be heard prior to the court's giving a written copy of the instructions (TR. 1318-1319).

In the subsequently filed motion for new trial appellant did not complain about the issue he now asserts (Vol. IV, R. 759-760).

No complaint was lodged or objection raised at the Motion for New Trial Hearing on August 7, 1998 (Vol. X, R. 1698-1728) or at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing on November 2, 1998 (Vol. X, R. 1730-1746).

Regretfully, the failure to object contemporaneously below in order to preserve the point for appellate review precludes consideration ab initio now. See generally Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990); Mordenti v. State, 630 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994); San Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337, 1345 (Fla. 1997) ("we note that San Martin's intelligence level was never argued to the trial court as a basis for suppressing the statements. Thus, that issue is not available for appellate review."); Hazen v. State, 700 So.2d 1207, 1211 (Fla. 1997) (issue regarding admissibility of witness' statements about Hazen staring during a pre-trial hearing procedurally barred for lack of a contemporaneous objection, although asserted in motion in limine prior to witness' testimony); Lindsey v. State, 636 So.2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994) (When the sister testified some three witnesses after the proffer of Williams Rule evidence, Lindsey did not object specifically to her testimony about the car accident and claim was procedurally barred. Because Lindsey failed to object to the testimony when given and on the ground now argued, he failed to preserve this issue for review.); Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) (challenge to introduction of similar fact evidence "is not properly before this Court because of defense counsel's

failure to object to the testimony at trial. Even when a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review.") (emphasis supplied); Lawrence v. State, 614 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993) (same); Norton v. State, 709 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1997) (appellant's motion for mistrial at the close of the witness' testimony insufficient to preserve issue for appellate review); <u>Pomeranz v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 465, 470 (Fla. 1997) (failure to object to collateral crime evidence when it is introduced violates contemporaneous objection rule and waives the issue for appellate review); <u>Hardwick v. Dugger</u>, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994) (failure to object at time collateral crimes evidence is introduced waives issue for appellate review, even where prior motion in limine relating to that evidence has been denied); Feller v. State, 637 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1994); <u>Harmon v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988); Perez v. State, 717 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3DCA 1998) (opinion granting rehearing holding that following the Criminal Reform Act of 1996 the appellant's failure to preserve the Williams-Rule claim by contemporaneous objection precluded reversal on appeal); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1997) (failure to renew objection contemporaneously at the time of the testimony precludes review); Zack v. State, So.2d, , 25 Fla. L. Weekly S19 (Fla. 1999). See also Goodwin v. State, \_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S583, 585 (Fla. 1999):

Our appellate cases are filled with examples of errors that are unpreserved either because no objection was made<sup>6</sup> or because the objection was not specific.<sup>7</sup> If the error is "invited,"<sup>8</sup> or the defendant "opens the door" to the error, the appellate court will not consider the error a basis for reversal.<sup>9</sup> In addition, if it is alleged that evidence has been improperly excluded and the appellate record does not establish that a proffer has been made, the lack of an adequate record will be grounds to affirm.<sup>10</sup> Indeed, our case law is filled with procedural pitfalls that may preclude an error from being considered on appeal. (footnotes omitted)

See also <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 920, 926 (Fla. 1994) (defendant waived objection to erroneous instruction by defense counsel's failure to object to curative procedure).<sup>10</sup>

## (B) The instant claim is also meritless:

Appellant's attempt to create confusion in a given instruction which went unnoticed by all parties below (not only did the defense agree to the court's instruction but also the jury had no inquiries after being instructed) must fail. The trial court neither directed the jury to find the proposed aggravator nor uttered an impermissible judicial comment on the evidence. In the preliminary instruction the court had explained:

"You are instructed that this evidence when considered with the evidence you have already

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>While appellant now criticizes the Standard Jury Instruction (and by implication those responsible for it) for not anticipating the employment of a single aggravator, his failure to object below to any perceived unfairness and his acceptance and acquiescence to the court's actions - when he did object and urge error on other grounds - precludes initiation of review now to this appellate afterthought.

heard is presented in order that <u>you might</u> <u>determine</u> just <u>whether</u> sufficient aggravating <u>circumstances exist</u> that would justify the imposition of a death penalty, and second whether there are mitigating circumstances sufficient to <u>outweigh</u> the aggravating circumstances, if any."

(emphasis supplied) (Vol. XVII, TR. 1247)

In the final instructions the court explained:

"... it is your duty to follow the laws that will now be given to you by the court and to render to the court an advisory sentence based upon your determination as to <u>whether</u> <u>sufficient aggravating</u> circumstances <u>exist to</u> justify the imposition of the death penalty and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist

\* \* \* \*

The aggravating circumstance that you may consider is limited to the following that is established by the evidence: The crime for which the Defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. ...

(Vol. XVII, TR. 1314)

\* \* \* \*

<u>Should you find</u> sufficient <u>aggravating</u> <u>circumstances do exist</u>, it will then be your duty to determine whether mitigating circumstances exist that outweigh the aggravating circumstances. ...

(emphasis supplied) (Vol. XVII, R. 1314-1315)

\* \* \* \*

Each aggravating circumstance must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before it may be considered by you in arriving at your decision. If one or more aggravating circumstances <u>are established</u>, you should consider all the evidence tending to establish one or more mitigating circumstances and give that evidence such weight as you feel it should receive in reaching your conclusion as to the sentence that should be imposed.

(emphasis supplied) (Vol. XVII, TR. 1316) (See also Vol. IV, R. 746-748).

In context it is abundantly clear that the court was instructing the jury that they were required to determine whether an aggravating circumstance was established beyond a reasonable doubt, whether the aggravating justified the imposition of a sentence of death and that if they found sufficient aggravation they must then determine whether there mitigating were circumstances and weigh against the aggravating. The total context of the instruction reveals that the word "is" used at p. 1314 has the same meaning as "if you find to be established by the evidence".

This court has held that jury instruction challenges must be considered and resolved by examining the totality of the instructions in context, and not in isolation in a vacuum. See, <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 252 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1971); see also <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Adams</u>, 74 F.3d 1093 (11 Cir. 1996); <u>Antone v. Strickland</u>, 706 F.2d 1534 (11 Cir. 1983); <u>U.S. v. Starks</u>, 157 F.3d 833 (11 Cir. 1998).

Appellant's claim is both barred and meritless; relief must be denied.

#### ISSUE V

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY BY ALLEGEDLY FAILING TO CONSIDER A STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Appellant next contends that the lower court erred in failing to consider a proposed statutory mental mitigator, that Butler's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform to the requirements of law was substantially impaired, Florida Statute 921.141(6)(f).

## (A.) The instant claim has been abandoned:

The record reflects that appellant abandoned reliance on this mitigator. While it is true that the court provided an instruction to the jury on it (Vol. XVII, R. 1316), thereafter when the defense team submitted its post-jury recommendation memorandum in support of life sentence they chose to rely on <u>only</u> the statutory mental mitigator of "under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance" (Vol. V, R. 775-776) and seven non-statutory mitigators (raised without natural mother, troubled childhood, hard worker, loving and good father, loving and good son, well thought of by friends, neighbors and co-workers, and long term substance abuse problem) (Vol. V, R. 776-781).<sup>11</sup>

At the motion for new trial on August 7, 1999 the defense only complained with regard to the penalty phase that the court in the instruction had not itemized the non-statutory background matters

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Appellant was represented by three attorneys - Michael Schwartzberg, Richard Watts and Anne Borghetti.

(Vol. X, R. 1725).<sup>12</sup>

At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing conducted November 2, 1998, the defense elicited the testimony of Dr. Michael Maher concerning the effects of cocaine (Vol. X, R. 1730).

The record further reflects that the lower court had granted the defendant's motion for confidential expert prior to trial in February of 1998 (Vol. II, R. 373-374). A list containing the name of Dr. Alfred Fireman appears on a list of witness subpoenas for trial (Vol. IV, R. 662) and according to the state's sentencing memorandum the appellant was examined by Dr. Alfred Fireman before trial but Fireman did not testify during the guilt or penalty phases (Vol. V, R. 788).

It would seem that the defense chose to rely merely on appellant's illegal cocaine use on the night of the crime in support of a non-statutory mitigating factor since no mental health expert testimony was forthcoming in support of Florida Statute 921.141(6)(f) (capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired). This is understandable not only because of the absence of supporting expert testimony on the issue of impaired capacity to appreciate criminality or to conform to the law's requirements but also in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Defense counsel Watts urged "Each one of the seven mitigating circumstances that we could come up with were, quote, non-statutory" (Vol. X, R. 1725).

light of the testimony by appellant and others negating any such impairment.

Appellant did submit the testimony of Dr. Maher at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing but as he stated his involvement was within "relatively defined hypothetical parameters". He had only one interview with Butler and did not review the extensive material on the case (he was not basing anything on school, social records or other childhood records). He merely opined that when an individual is intoxicated on cocaine, regular features that may be present include repetitive behavior (perseveration) and the number of stab wounds suggest that pattern of behavior. The witness had <u>not</u> reviewed trial transcripts, or depositions or police reports. Butler maintained his innocence, only said he'd taken a lot of cocaine but didn't quantify the use. Appellant did <u>not</u> indicate he had so much cocaine he didn't know what he was doing and Maher had no indication that he had an obsessive personality disorder (Vol. X, R. 1733-1742).

# (B) <u>If preserved the instant claim is meritless or amounts to</u> <u>harmless error</u>:

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